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Director’s Report
The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024, which discloses the state of the company’s affairs of Radiant Insurance Company Limited.

Incorporation
The company was incorporated in September 2012.
Principal activity

Radiant Insurance Company Limited underwrites non-life Insurance risks, such as those associated with motor,
property, medical and third-party liabilities. The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and
domiciled in Rwanda.

Results and dividends

The profit for the year of Frw 1.708 billion (2023: profit of Frw 376 million) has been added to retained earnings.
The directors recommend the declaration of dividend equivalent to Frw 3.5 billion (2023: Nil).

Directors
The Directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are set out on page 2.
Auditors

BDO East Africa (Rwanda) Ltd was appointed as the compény‘s auditors for the current year and expressed their
willingness to continue in office in accordance with Regulation no14/2017 of 23/11/2017 on accreditation

requirements and in accordance with the Rwandan Companies Act.

Approval of the financial statements

1] (2,
Director Name & Signature

W/ oy f/ /2025



AbelSegikwiye
Rectangle

AbelSegikwiye
Typewriter
4


RADIANT INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2024

Corporate information- Continued

Radiant Insurance Company Ltd is accredited by the National Bank of Rwanda to provide short-term insurance. Its
primary objective is to provide clients with credible, innovative and tailor-made short-term insurance products.
Radiant Insurance company Ltd takes the guesswork out of insurance, by working fast and successfully delivering
fit-for-purpose market-leading insurance products and practices to clients across Rwanda.

Board of Directors
The Directors in the company’s board during the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2024 are listed on page 2.

Though the overall responsibility of monitoring and controlling the operational and financial performance of
Radiant Insurance Company Ltd vests with the Board, the day-to-day management of the company has been
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer. The Board of Directors meets at least quarterly and is chaired by an
independent non-executive director.

Board of Audit Committee

The Board Audit Committee comprises three Directors. Its key objective is to assist the Board in providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process and internal control system of Radiant
Insurance Company Ltd. It will review the performance and findings of Internal Audit and external auditors and
recommend appropriate remedial action at least quarterly. The members are:

Mr. RUGIRAMAZA Gilbert _Chairperson | Independent Director
Mr. KARANGWA Fldele Member IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII dgnt Director

_____ Mrs. NYIRANEZA Joyce g omber | Independent Director

Mrs. MUKANEZA Sandra Member Non -Independent Director

Board Underwriting and Claims Strategy Committee

The Board Underwriting and Claims Strategy Committee key objectives is to assist the Board in establishing and
reviewing the company's underwriting and claims policies and guidelines including monitoring overall risk
tolerance and risk appetite, establishing policy on fraud detection and prevention, establishing and reviewing
claims policies and procedures, and establishing and reviewing policies and guidelines governing the Company's
reinsurance treaties arrangements. The members are:

~Mr. MAKUZA Bernard Chairperson Independent Director
BN 5....LL...
Mrs. MUKANEZA Sandra | Member Non- independent Dlrector
Mrs. NIYONKURU Clémentine | Member ' Non-Independent Director

Board Risk Management Committee

The Board Risk Management Committee comprises four directors. Its key objective is to oversee the Risk
Management Policy of the organization. The Committee is responsible for reviewing and assessing the integrity
and effectiveness of the risk management system and ensure that all material risks are identified, measured,
monitored and reported. The members are:

_Mr. KARANGWA Fidele Chairperson Independent Director
e R AT t Director
Mrs. MUKANEZA Sandra o |Member | Non-Independent Director
WS, NYONKURU Clemerine | Member | Non-ndependent irector
Mr. RUGIRAMAZA Gilbert i G ndErarden Diector i
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Corporate information- Continued

Management Committee

The Management Committee meets once every week and comprises the executive and senior staff. Its key
objective is to monitor the implementation of the overall strategy of the company. The committee reviews
company’s performance of all departments each week and particularly ensures that RADIANT Insurance Company
Ltd financial results are maintained.

The table below contains the members of the Management/Executive Committee:

Names of Executive Directors Positicm
Mr 'HAKIZIMANA Yassm i Dlrector of Admm_lstratlon and Fman ce L

Ms. KASINE Sarah

Mrs. MUTETERI Solange
Mr. NKULIKIYINKA Pierre Claver
Mr. ABIZEYE Jean Damascéne Ch1ef Risk Officer

Compliance with Laws

The Board is satisfied that the Company has to the best of its knowledge, complied with all the laws applicable
and has conducted its business in accordance with the relevant laws.

Internal Controls

The Board has a collective responsibility for the Company’s internal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness.
It relies on the Management to establish and manage these and has an internal auditor to monitor the compliance
with the policies and procedures as set out by the Company. The internal auditor also reviews the controls efficacy
to ensure that they are in line with best practices, and they safeguard Company’s assets, transactions accurately
and timely recorded and errors detected within reasonable time.

Attendance of Board Meetings

In 2024, the attendance at Board meetings is set out below:

Name Number of meetings Number of meeting | Attendance %
held attended, P
5 5 SIS Psa— 100%

Mrs. MUKANEZA Sandra

LT 5 4

_Mr. RUGIRAMAZA Gilbert | B 2
5 5

5 4

Mrs. NIYONKURU Clementi

Mr. KARANGWA Fidéle
Mr. MAKUZA Bernard
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are required in terms of the Law No 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing companies in Rwanda as
modified and complemented to date by the Law No 019/2023 of 30/03/2023 to maintain adequate accounting
records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial
information included in this report. It is theirresponsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present
the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the financial period and the results of its operations and cash
flow for the period thenended, in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and are based upon
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the Company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To
enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of Directors sets standardsfor internal control aimed
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standardsinclude the proper delegation of
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures, and adequate segregation of
duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls aremonitored throughout the Company and all
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Company’s business is conducted
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Company
is on identifying, assessing, managing, and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Company. While operating
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Company endeavors to minimize it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure,
controls, systems, and ethical behavior are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and
constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, thatthe system
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied onfor the preparation of
the financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the Company’s cash flow forecast for the year to December 31, 2025, and,in light of
this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Company has or had access to adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements and notes set out on pa es 13 to 62, which have been prepared on the going concern
basis, were approved by the Board of Directors on f.l!’( i ..2025 and were signed on their behalf by:

4 ,L{.éz}&-u}.w—.i%ﬂ.....5.{5242567' ' _Hfﬁkﬂ Elonlal Peopt
. /]

Director hame and signature
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders

Tel: +250 738 304070
Tel: +250 788 309225
rwanda@bdo-ea.com
www.bdo-ea.com

BDO East Africa (Rwanda) Ltd
Career Center Building, 8" Floor
KG 541st Road, P.O. Box 6593
Kigali, Rwanda

of Radiant Insurance Company Ltd

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of
Radiant Insurance Company Ltd “the Company”
set out on pages 13 to 62, which comprise:

the statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2024,

the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at December 31, 2024, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting
Standards), Regulation No. 47/2022 of 02/06/2022 on
publication of financial statements and other disclosures by
insurers, BNR regulations, other supervisary requirement and
the requirements of Rwanda Companies Act (Law no 007/2021

of 05/02/2021 governing companies in Rwanda as modified and
complemented to date by the Law No 019/2023 of
30/03/2023).

ended, and

" notes to the financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Rwanda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Key audit matter

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters

IFRS

Insurance Our audit procedures in this area included:

— Transition to 17

Contraces — Evaluating whether management's transition approach

On 1 January 2023, the Company
transitioned to reporting under the new
accounting standard IFRS 17 Insurance
Contracts which replaced IFRS 4-lnsurance
Contracts. The Company has evaluated the
requirements of IFRS 17 and exercised
judgement to develop accounting policies
and determine appropriate methodologies
in order to comply with IFRS 17. In

assessment(s) are in accordance with the requirements of
IFRS 17, by performing the following procedures:

(a) challenging whether management have appropriately
identified all data required to apply the full retrospective
approach (FRA) to each group of contracts/ asset for
insurance acquisition cash flows (IACF).

(b) challenging whether management have appropriately
concluded on whether IFRS 17 can be applied
retrospectively for each group of contracts/ asset for |ACF.

8
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Key audit matter

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Tel: +250 738 304070
Tel: +250 788 309225
rwanda@bdo-ea.com
www.bdo-ea.com

BDO East Africa (Rwanda) Ltd
Career Center Building, 8'" Floor
KG 541st Road, P.O. Box 6593
Kigali, Rwanda

How the matter was addressed in our audit

particular, the determination of the
measurement models (General
Measurement Model (GMM) or Premium
Allocation Approach (PAA)) to apply under
the standard, the determination of risk
adjustment  and  onerous  contract
methodologies, and the determination of
the discount rate, were deemed to be
significant to the overall impact of
transition. The new standard has also had
a significant impact on the disclosures in
the financial statements.

Due to the significance of the changes
introduced by the standard, we considered
the transition to the new standard to be a
key audit matter.

(c) Evaluating the appropriateness of the Company's
premium allocation approach eligibility analysis for
insurance and reinsurance contracts with coverage periods
greater than one year, including testing the relevant
supporting data, the significant assumptions used and
scenarios applied, and testing the accuracy of models used

Assessing the significant judgements used by the Company
to determine the relevant accounting policies against the
requirements of IFRS 17. This included judgements used to
determine the measurement models adopted, risk
adjustment, onerous contracts and discount rates used.
Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology used to
determine the risk adjustment, including assessing the
underlying discounted cash flow model and significant
assumptions.

Evaluating the onerous contract methodology used to
identify any groups of onerous contracts on transition.
Where onerous contracts were identified, we assessed the
appropriateness of the significant assumptions and
recalculated the relevant loss recovery components.

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Company held Frw
17 billion of insurance contract liabilities of
which there are two components. The
Valuation of the Liability for Remaining
Coverage is a key audit matter due to the
complexity of the actuarial methodology and
assumptions used to model separate
components of the liability, which result in
inherent estimation uncertainty.

The valuation of the Liability for Incurred
Claims is a key audit matter as it is highly
judgemental and requires assumptions to be
made with inherent estimation uncertainty.
These assumptions can have significant
impacts on the valuation. This complexity
requires us to exercise judgement when
evaluating the methodology and assumptions
adopted by the Company.

The most significant assumptions made in the
valuation of policy liability balances arising
from the Company’s insurance contracts relate
to:

(i)  Discount rates;

(i)  Expected claims incurred arising from
future coverage

(1)  Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

We tested the design and implementation and operating
effectiveness of key controls designed and operated by the
Company over the valuation of the insurance contract
liabilities.

We challenged key assumptions used to determine
insurance policy liability balances.

Our challenge focused on the assumptions applied to claims
data and future cashflows and included:

® Evaluating historical actual versus expected claims
experience in relation to the number of delinquencies
and the severity assumptions, together with the timing
of claims payments and recoveries using historical
data;

" Assessing the consistency of information, such as claims
experience and trends within the Company by
benchmarking the risk adjustment adopted by other
companies in the same industry and consistency with
the risk adjustment adopted at the previous year-end.

= Evaluating the impact of more recent claims
experience on expected cashflows, including impacts
from the current economic environment;

8 Use of technical expert to review the model.

— We assessed the disclosures in the financial statements for

adequacy against the requirements of IFRS 17.

9
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Key audit matter

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

(iv)  The uncertainty in the timing of claim
payments and recoveries

(v) Past claims experience being an
appropriate predictor of future
experience

— Refer to Note 2 Material accounting information, note 2 for Significant judgements and note 21 Insurance
contract liabilities of the accompanying financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Report of the Directors and Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities but does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial:statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that

10
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management' use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation,

We communicate with Those Charged With Governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

11
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Rwanda Companies Act we report to you, based on our audit, that:

L ]

We have no relationship, interest or debt with Company. As indicated in our report on the audit of the
financial statements, we comply with ethical requirements. These are the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (IESBA Cede), which includes comprehensive independence and other
requirements.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief,
were necessary for the purpose of our audit.

In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company, so far as our examination of
those books appears.

We have communicated with those charged with governance our significant audit findings, and
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.

According to the best of the information and the explanations given to us as auditors, as shown by the
accounting and other documents of the company, the financial statements comply with Article 125 of
Rwanda Companies Act.

BDO East Africa (Rwanda) Ltd
Certified Public Accountants
Career Center Building, 8" Floor
KG 541st, P.O Box 6593

Kigali, Rwanda

JDO EA KWANUA Li.
Tel:+250 78830922%

+250 738304070
nv 5593 Kinali,Rwand

CPA Clément Niyitekega Egide Kabano
PC/CPA 0228/0081
Engagement Partner

Date:

cA ’04\1 2025
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023

Note Frw '000 Frw '000

Insurance revenue 2 21,583,105 16,818,341
Insurance service expenses 3 (18,651,895) (16,158,250)
Insurance service result before reinsurance contracts held 2,931,210 660,091
Allocation of reinsurance premiums 4 (2,857,555) (2,630,839)
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims 5 2,851,397 1,204,645
Net expense from reinsurance contracts held (6,158) (1,426,194)
Insurance service result 2,925,052 (766,103)
Reinsurance Costs 153:317 159,291
Reinsurance Recoveries (652,774) (481,732)
Reinsurance Service result (499,457) (322,441)
Investment income 6 2,669,841 1,627,054
Other Expenses 7 (2,645,058) -
Profit before tax 2,450,377 538,510
Taxation 17 (742,372) (161,802)
Profit for the year 1,708,005 376,708
Other comprehensive income for the period - -
Total Comprehensive income 1,708,005 376,708

The notes on pages 13 to 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.

13
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Annual Financial Statements for year the ended 31 DECEMBER 2024

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023
Note Frw' 000 Frw' 000
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 4,312,560 1,677,979
Investments in term deposits 9 450,000 450,000
Investment in treasury bonds 10 3,645,000 1,868,000
Investment in unquoted securities 11 3,427,400 1,920,000
Receivables arising out from reinsurance - arrangements 12 4,272,931 2,392,877
Receivables arising out of co- insurance arrangements 13 103,309 78,780
Reinsurance share in insurance contracts liabilities 14 1,407,773 1,874,350
Other receivables 15 763,080 851,327
Inventories 16 32,062 34,381
Income tax receivable 17 - 236,543
Deferred tax asset 17 29,589 -
Investment property 18 14,518,139 14,983,185
Property and equipment 19 1,785,160 157,750
Intangible assets 20 342,697 334,798
Total Assets 35,089,699 26,859,969
Liabilities
Insurance contracts liabilities 21 17,059,286 13,515,526
Payable arising out of reinsurance arrangement 22 1,236,217 1,091,330
Payables arising out of co - insurance arrangements 23 63,845 33,274
Other payables 24 2,544,140 2,244,174
Income tax payable 17 290,557 .
Deferred tax liability 17 . 16,866
Total liabilities 21,194,044 16,901,169
Equity
Ordinary share capital 6,500,000 6,500,000
Unallotted shares 2,000,000 -
Revaluation reserve 1,520,789 1,291,940
Retained earnings 3,874,866 2,166,862
Total equity 13,895,655 9,958,801
Total equity and liabilities 35,089,699 26,859,971

These financial statements and notes on pages 13

were approved by the Board of Directors on UR .y
WS

Director name and signature Y

to 62,

/| RADIANT

Director name and signature

hich have been prepared on the going concern basis,
-4-}......2025 and signed on its behalf by:

N Q\ AHLAKA...Fronlols P
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RADIANT INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2024

Statement of Cash Flows

2024 2023
Note Frw' 000 Frw' 000
Operating activities
Cash flows generated from/(used in) from operations 26 4,956,545 3,607,435
Tax (paid)/refunded 17 (261,727) (359,073)
Cash generated from operating activities 4,694,818 3,248,362
Investing activities
Investments made in freasury bonds 10 (2,277,000) .
Additional investments in unquoted securities 11 (1,507,400) (1,560,000)
Investments made in term depaosits 9 (450,000) (300,000)
Receipts upon treasury bonds maturities 10 500,000 200,000
Receipts upon term deposits maturities 9 450,000 350,000
Acquisition of property and equipment 19 (1,214,032) (57,454)
Acquisition of intangible assets 21 (33.898) -
Acquisition of investment property 18 (1,656,214) (2,362,869)
Disposal of investment property 18 2,000,000 -
Cash used in investing activities (4,788,544) (3.030,323)
Financing activities
Receipts of share capital 2,000,000 -
Interest on Reinsurers' deposits 499,457 -
Revaluation reserve - written back 228,850 -
Lease payments 25 - (258,443)
Cash (used in)/ from financing activities 2,728,307 (258,443)
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 2,634,581 (40,404)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 1,677,979 1,718,382
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4,312,560 1,677,979

The notes on pages 13 to 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.



RADIANT INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

Radiant Insurance Company Ltd is accredited by the National Bank of Rwanda to provide short-term insurance. Its
primary objective is to provide clients with credible, innovative and tailor-made short-term insurance products.
Radiant Insurance company Ltd takes the guesswork out of insurance, by working fast and successfully delivering
fit-for-purpose market-leading insurance products and practices to clients across Rwanda. The company’s
registered office is at:

RADIANT Building,
KN 3 Ave,
Kigali, Rwanda

2. Material Accounting information
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial statement are set out below. These

policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated,

a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise stated in the
accounting policies below. The financial statements are presented in Rwandan Francs (FRW), rounded to the
nearest thousand. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates
and assumptions. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies.

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements are prepared in compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards, the requirements of the Law
N®007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies as modified and complemented to date by the Law No 019/2023
of 30/03/2023, Law no. 52/2008 Of 10/09/2008 governing the organization of Insurance Business in Rwanda and
BNR Regulations and others supervisory requirements.

b) New standards, amendments and interpretations

I)  New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted during the year

The Company has adopted the following new standards and amendments during the year ended 31 December 2023,
including consequential amendments to other standards with the date of initial application by the Company being
1 January 2023. The nature and effects of the changes are as explained here in.

Accounting estimates (Amendmentsto IAS8)

I} IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Changes to classification and measurement

The Company was previously permitted under IFRS 4 to continue accounting using its previous accounting policies.
However, IFRS 17 establishes specific principles for the recognition and measurement of insurance contracts issued
and reinsurance contracts held by the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued

Under IFRS 17, the Company’s insurance contracts issued, and reinsurance contracts held are all eligible to be
measured by applying the PAA. The PAA simplifies the measurement of insurance contracts in comparison with the
general model in IFRS 17,

The measurement principles of the PAA differ from the ‘earned premium approach’ used by the Company under
IFRS 4 in the following key areas:

° The liability for remaining coverage reflects premiums received less deferred insurance acquisition cash
flows and less amounts recognised in revenue for insurance services provided.
o Measurement of the liability for remaining coverage involves an explicit evaluation of risk adjustment for

non-financial risk when a group of contracts is onerous in order to calculate a loss component (Previously these
may have formed part of the unexpired risk reserve provision)

e Measurement of the liability for incurred claims (previously claims outstanding and incurred-but-not
reported (IBNR) claims) is determined on a discounted probability-weighted expected value basis and includes an
explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. The liability includes the Company’s obligation to pay other incurred
insurance expenses.

o Measurement of the asset for remaining coverage (reflecting reinsurance premiums paid for reinsurance
held) is adjusted to include a loss-recovery component to reflect the expected recovery of onerous contract losses
where such contracts reinsure onerous direct contracts.

The Company expenses its insurance acquisition cash flows for its portfolios immediately the expense is incurred,
and an asset is created for the deferred portion. Insurance acquisition cash flows include those that are directly
attributable to a group and to future groups that are expected to arise from renewals of contracts in that group.
Where such insurance acquisition cash flows are paid (or where a liability has been recognised applying another
IFRS standard) before the related group of insurance contracts is recognised, an asset for insurance acquisition
cash flows is recognised. When insurance contracts are recognised, the related portion of the asset for insurance
acquisition cash flows is derecognised and subsumed into the measurement at initial recognition of the insurance
liability for remaining coverage of the related group.

Changes to presentation and disclosure
For presentation in the statement of financial position, the Company aggregates insurance and reinsurance
contracts issued, and reinsurance contracts held, respectively and presents separately:

® Portfolios of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are assets

o Portfolios of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are liabilities
° Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are assets.

° Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities

The portfolios referred to above are those established at initial recognition in accordance with the IFRS 17
requirements. Portfolios of insurance contracts issued include any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows.

The line-item descriptions in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income have been changed
significantly compared with last year. Previously, the Company reported the following line items:

Gross written premiums

Net written premiums
Changes in premium reserves
Gross insurance claims

Net insurance claims

Instead, IFRS 17 requires separate presentation of:

. Insurance revenue

. Insurance service expenses

° Insurance finance income or expenses

° Income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held

The Company provides disaggregated qualitative and quantitative information about:
° Amounts recognised in its financial statements from insurance contracts
° Significant judgements, and changes in those judgements, when applying the standard
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued

Transition

On transition date, 1 January 2023, the Company:

® Has identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance contracts as if IFRS 17 had always applied.

® Has identified, recognised and measured assets for insurance acquisition cash flows as if IFRS 17 has always
applied. At transition date, a recoverability assessment was performed, and no impairment loss was
identified,

Derecognised any existing balances that would not exist had IFRS 17 always applied.
Recognised any resulting net difference in equity.

The adoption of these changes had significant impact on the amounts and the disclosures of the Company’s
financial statements.

) Disclosure of accounting policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS practice Statement 2)

Amendments to IAS 1 requires presentation of Financial Statements of the companies to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies.

“Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general-purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.” This Practice Aid provides
guidance on the disclosures of the accounting policies in the light of the narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 and
includes the following examples:

Disclosure of accounting policies for cryptocurrency investments

Disclosure of accounting policies about defined benefit obligation schemes.
Disclosure of accounting policies for the cap-and-trade schemes

Disclosure of accounting policies about leasing activities by a lessee
Disclosure of accounting policies for fixed-fee service contracts and
Disclosure of accounting policies on revenue recognition

" & & ° 9 @

The adoption of these changes did not have significant impact on the amounts presented in the Company’s financial
statements.

1v) Deferred tax (Amendments to IAS 12)

The standard clarifies how companies account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Amendments on deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction
(Amendments to IAS 12) is an exemption from the initial recognition exemption provided in IAS 12.15 (b) and IAS
12.24. Accordingly, the initial recognition exemption does not apply to the transactions in which equal amounts of
deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition.

The amendment requires companies, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented:

a) to recognise a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised -and a deferred tax liability for all deductible
and taxable temporary differences associated with:

e right-of-use assets and lease liabilities; and

e decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and the corresponding amounts recognised as part of the
cost of the related asset; and

b) to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at that date. This will reflect the
opening position, without the need for full retrospective application. The Directors concluded that this transition
approach would make the amendments easier and less costly to apply than a full retrospective approach, while
still achieving their objective.

The adoption of these changes did not have significant impact on the amounts presented in the Company’s
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued
V) Accounting estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)

IAS 8 accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors is applied in selecting and applying accounting
policies, accounting for changes in estimates and reflecting corrections of prior period errors. This typically involve
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available reliable information. Developing an accounting
estimate includes both:

e Selecting a measurement technique (estimation or valuation technique) e.g., an estimation technique used
to measure a loss allowance for expected credit losses when applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and
Choosing the inputs to be used when applying the chosen measurement technique e.g., the expected cash
outflows for determining a provision for warranty obligations when applying IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent

Liabilities and Contingent Assets,

The adoption of these changes did not have significant impact on the amounts presented in the Company’s financial
statements.

(i)  New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2024

1.New and updated for December 2024 year ends.
For annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, the following are newly effective
requirements:
(a)IFRS 16 lease liability accounting for sale and leaseback transactions, IASB effective from 1 January 2024,
The Company will ensure compliance with these amendments starting from the effective date, reflecting
the appropriate lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets in the financial statements as per the revised IFRS 16 guidance.
(b)Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (including Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-Current Deferral of
Effective Date) (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements).The Company applies the
amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements related to the Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current, IASB effective
from 1 January 2024,
(c)Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements).The
Company applies the
amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements regarding the classification of non-current
liabilities with covenants, IASB
effective from 1 January 2024.
(d)Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures) The
Company applies the amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures regarding Supplier
FinanceArrangements, IASB effective from 1 January 2024,
e  2.Early adoption of Standards and Amendments.
Below lists all pronouncements with a mandatory effective date in future accounting periods.
(a)Mandatorily effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025:
Lack of Exchangeability (Amendment to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates).
(b)Mandatorily effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026:
- amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instrument (Amendments to IFRS 9
Financial Instruments).
- Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent electricity (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7).
(C)Mandatorily effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027:
- IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
- IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability Disclosure.
c) Insurance and reinsurance contracts classification
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued

(a) Classification

The Company issues contracts that transfer insurance risk. Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer
significant insurance risk. Insurance contracts issued by the Company are classified as general insurance business
based on the duration of the risk insured. Classes of general insurance include accident, crop, engineering, guarantee,
liability, medical, motor, property and Transport.

(b) Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracts

The Company assesses its non-life insurance and reinsurance products to determine whether they contain distinct
components. After separating any distinct components, the Company applies IFRS 17 to all remaining components of
the (host) insurance contract. Currently, the Company’s products do not include any distinct components that require
separation.

Some reinsurance contracts issued contain profit commission arrangements. Under these arrangements,

there is a minimum guaranteed amount that the policyholder will always receive - either in the form of profit
commission, or as claims, or another contractual payment irrespective of the insured event happening. The minimum
guaranteed amounts have been assessed to be highly interrelated with the insurance component of the reinsurance
contacts and are, therefore, non-distinct investment components which are not accounted for separately. However,
receipts and payments of these investment components are recognised outside of profit or loss,

(c) Level of aggregation

IFRS 17 requires a company to determine the level of aggregation for applying its requirements.

The level of aggregation for the Company is determined firstly by dividing the business written into portfolios.
Portfolios comprise groups of contracts with similar risks which are managed together. Portfolios are further divided
based on expected profitability at inception into three categories: onerous contracts, contracts with no significant
risk of becoming onerous, and the remainder. This means that, for determining the level of aggregation, the Company
identifies a contract as the smallest ‘unit’, i.e., the lowest common denominator.

However, the Company makes an evaluation of whether a series of contracts need to be treated together as one unit
based on reasonable and supportable information, or whether a single contract contains components that need to be
separated and treated as if they were stand-alone contracts. As such, what is treated as a contract for accounting
purposes may differ from what is considered as a contract for other purposes (i.e., legal or management). IFRS 17
also requires that no group for level of aggregation purposes may contain contracts issued more than one year apart.

The Company applied a full retrospective approach for transition to IFRS 17. The portfolios are further divided by
year of issue and profitability for recognition and measurement purposes. Hence, within each year of issue, portfolios
of contracts are divided into three groups, as follows:

e A group of contracts that are onerous at initial recognition (if any)

e A group of contracts that, at initial recognition, have no significant possibility of becoming onerous
subsequently (if any)

e A group of the remaining contracts in the portfolio (if any)

The profitability of groups of contracts is assessed by actuarial valuation models that take into consideration existing
and new business. The Company assumes that no contracts in the portfolio are onerous at initial recognition unless
facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. For contracts that are not onerous, the Company assesses, at initial
recognition, that there is no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently by assessing the likelihood of
changes in applicable facts and circumstances. The Company considers facts and circumstances to identify whether
a group of contracts are onerous based on:

e Pricing information

o Results of similar contracts it has recognised
» Environmental factors, e.g., a change in market experience or regulations
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued

The Company divides portfolios of reinsurance contracts held applying the same principles set out above, except that
the references to onerous contracts refer to contracts on which there is a net gain on initial recognition. For some
groups of reinsurance contracts held, a group can comprise a single contract.

As per IFRS 17, the below portfolios have been identified:
Accident;

Crop;

Engineering;

Guarantee;

Liability;

Medical;

Motor;

Property; and

Transport

c) Recognition
The Company recognises groups of insurance contracts it issues from the earliest of the following:
e The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts
= The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group is due or when the first payment is received
if there is no due date.
= or a group of onerous contracts if facts and circumstances indicate that the group is onerous,

The Company recognises a group of reinsurance contracts held it has entered from the earlier of the following:

e The beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. (However, the

e Company delays the recognition of a group of reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate coverage
until the date any underlying insurance contract is initially recognised, if that date is later than the beginning
of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. And

e The date the Company recognises an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts if the Company entered
into, the related reinsurance contract held in the group of reinsurance contracts held at or before that date,

The Company adds new contracts to the group in the reporting period in which that contract meets one of the criteria
set out above.

d) Measurement - Premium Allocation Approach

Measurement is not carried out at the level of individual contracts, but on the basis of groups of contracts. To allocate
individual insurance contracts to groups of contracts, an entity first needs to define portfolios which include contracts
with similar risks that are managed together. These portfolios are to be subdivided into groups of contracts on the
basis of profitability and annual cohorts. IFRS 17 consists of 3 measurement models:

The general measurement model (GMM), also known as the building block approach, consists of the fulfilment cash
flows and the contractual service margin.

The variable fee approach (VFA) is a mandatory modification of the general measurement model regarding the
treatment of the contractual service margin in order to accommodate direct participating contracts.

The premium allocation approach (PAA) is a simplified approach for the measurement of the liability for remaining
coverage an entity may choose to use when the premium allocation approach provides a measurement which is not
materially different from that under the general measurement model or if the coverage period of each contract in
the group of insurance contracts is one year or less. Under the premium allocation approach, the liability for
remaining coverage is measured as the amount of premiums received net of acquisition cash flows paid, less the net
amount of premiums and acquisition cash flows that have been recognized in profit or loss over the expired portion
of the coverage period based on the passage of time,

The measurement of the liability for incurred claims is identical under all three measurement models, apart from the

determination of locked-in interest rates used for discounting. An explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is
estimated separately from the other estimates for the liability for incurred claims. This risk adjustment represents
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compensation required for bearing uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows that arises from non-
financial risk. The risk adjustment forms part of the fulfilment cash flows for a group of insurance contracts.

The Company applies the premium allocation approach (PAA) to all the insurance contracts that it issues and
reinsurance contracts that it holds.

Insurance revenue and insurance service expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income based
on the concept of services provided during the period. The standard requires losses to be recognised immediately on
contracts that are expected to be onerous. For insurance contracts measured under the PAA, it is assumed that
contracts are not onerous at initial recognition, unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. The Company’s
focus is to grow a profitable and sustainable business and does not anticipate the recognition of onerous contracts
except where the following have been identified:

° Relevant pricing decisions.
° Initial stages of a new business acquired where the underlying contracts are onerous.
° Any other strategic decisions the board considers appropriate.
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2.

Accounting policies (continued)

e) Accounting policy choices

The following table sets out the accounting policy choices adopted by the Company:

IFRS 17 options

Adopted approach

- Insurance
i acquisition cash

flows

Provided that the coverage period of
each contract in the group at initial
recognition is no more than one year,
IFRS 17 allows an accounting policy
choice of either expensing the
insurance acquisition cash flows
when incurred or amortizing them

Insurance acquisition expenses are included
in the measurement of the insurance liability,
and amortized over the coverage period. This
is aligned to the current practice and reduces
the possibility of onerous contracts.

Llabrhty for
Remaining

adjusted for
- financial risk and

I time value of

money

Coverage (“LRC”) |
¢ providing each part of the services

Where there is no 51gn1f1cant
financing component in relation to
the LRC, or where the time between

and the related premium due date is
no more than a year, an entity is not
required to make an adjustment for
accretion of interest on the LRC.

Liability for
Incurred Claims
(“LIC”) adjusted
for time value of
money

Where claims are expected to be
paid within a year of the date that
the claim is incurred it is not
required to adjust these amounts for
the time value of money.

The Company does not adjust the LRC for

insurance contracts issued and the
remaining coverage for reinsurance
contracts held for the effect of the time
value of money, because insurance

premiums are due within the coverage
period of contracts, which is one year or

For some claims that are expected to b
paid out in less than one year, no!
adjustment is made for the time value of ;
money. For all other business, the LIC is
adjusted for the time value of money since
these typically have a settlement period of |
over one year. -E

Disaggregation of
risk adjustment

Insurance finance
income and
expense.

An insurer is not required to include
the entire change in the risk
adjustment for non- financial risk in

the insurance service result. Instead,
it can choose to split the amount

between the insurance service result
and insurance finance
expenses.

income or !

For contracts measured under the PAA, th
Company will include the entire change in
risk adjustment for non-financial risk as part
of the insurance service result.

There is an optmn to dlsaggregate
part of the movement in LFIC:

rates and present this in OCl.

resulting from changes in discount |

The impact on LFIC of changes in discount
rates will be captured within the statement
of profit or loss.
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7 A Accounting policies (continued)

f) Insurance contracts - initial measurement

The Company applies the premium allocation approach (PAA) to all the insurance contracts that it issues and

reinsurance contracts that it holds, as:

» The coverage period of each contract in the group is one year or less, including insurance contract services arising
from all premiums within the contract boundary.

Or

o For contracts longer than one year, the Company has modelled possible future scenarios and reasonably expects
that the measurement of the liability for remaining coverage for the group containing those contracts under the
PAA does not differ materially from the measurement that would be produced applying the general model. In
assessing materiality, the Company has also considered qualitative factors such as the nature of the risk and types
of its lines of business.

The Company does not apply the PAA if, at the inception of the group of contracts, it expects significant variability
in the fulfilment cash flows that would affect the measurement of the liability for the remaining coverage during
the period before a claim is incurred. Variability in the fulfilment cash flows increases with, for example:
The extent of future cash flows related to any derivatives embedded in the contracts
o The length of the coverage period of the group of contracts
For a group of contracts that is not onerous at initial recognition, the Company measures the liability for remaining
coverage as:
The premiums, if any, received at initial recognition
Minus any insurance acquisition cash flows at that date, with the exception of contracts which are one year or
less where this is expensed, plus or minus any amount arising from the derecognition at that date of the asset
recognised for insurance acquisition cash flows and
e Any other asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related to the group of contracts that the Company
pays or receives before the group of insurance contracts is recognised.
Where facts and circumstances indicate that contracts are onerous at initial recognition, the Company performs
additional analysis to determine if a net outflow is expected from the contract. Such onerous contracts are separately
grouped from other contracts and the Company recognises a loss in profit or loss for the net outflow, resulting in the
carrying amount of the liability for the group being equal to the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component is established
by the Company for the liability for remaining coverage for such onerous group depicting the losses recognised.
The Company measures its reinsurance assets for a group of reinsurance contracts that it holds on the same basis as
insurance contracts that it issues. However, they are adapted to reflect the features of reinsurance contracts held
that differ from insurance contracts issued, for example the generation of expenses or reduction in expenses rather
than revenue.
Where the Company recognises a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts or
when further onerous underlying insurance contracts are added to a group, the Company establishes a loss-recovery
component of the asset for remaining coverage for a group of reinsurance contracts held depicting the recovery of
losses.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
(i) Reinsurance contracts held - initial measurement

The Company calculates the loss-recovery component by multiplying the loss recognised on the underlying insurance
contracts and the percentage of claims on the underlying insurance contracts the Company expects to recover from
the group of reinsurance contracts held. The Company uses a systematic and rational method to determine the
portion of losses recognised on the group to insurance contracts covered by the group of reinsurance contracts held
where some contracts in the underlying group are not covered by the group of reinsurance contracts held. The loss-
recovery component adjusts the carrying amount of the asset for remaining coverage.

g) Insurance contracts - subsequent measurement

The Company measures the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage at the end of each reporting

period as the liability for remaining coverage at the beginning of the period:

e  Plus premiums received in the period

e Minus insurance acquisition cash flows

e  Plus any amounts relating to the amortisation of the insurance acquisition cash flows recognised as an expense
in the reporting period for the group

e  Plus any adjustment to the financing component, where applicable

s  Minus the amount recognised as insurance revenue for the services provided in the period

e Minus any investment component paid or transferred to the liability for incurred claims

The Company estimates the liability for incurred claims as the fulfilment cash flows related to incurred claims. The
fulfilment cash flows incorporate, in an unbiased way, all reasonable and supportable information available without
undue cost or effort about the amount, timing and uncertainty of those future cash flows, they reflect current
estimates from the perspective of the Company and include an explicit adjustment for non-financial risk (the risk
adjustment). The Company does not adjust the future cash flows for the time value of money and the effect of
financial risk for the measurement of liability for incurred claims that are expected to be paid within one year of
being incurred.

Where, during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate that a group of insurance contracts is onerous,
the Company recognises a loss in profit or loss for the net outflow, resulting in the carrying amount of the liability
for the group being equal to the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component is established by the Company for the liability
for remaining coverage for such onerous group depicting the losses recognised. Insurance acquisition cash flows are
allocated on a straight-line basis as a portion of premium to profit or loss (through insurance revenue).

h) Reinsurance contracts held - subsequent measurement.

The subsequent measurement of reinsurance contracts held follows the same principles as those for insurance
contracts issued and has been adapted to reflect the specific features of reinsurance held. Where the Company has
established a loss-recovery component, the Company subsequently reduces the loss recovery component to zero in
line with reductions in the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts in order to reflect that the loss-recovery
component shall not exceed the portion of the carrying amount of the loss component of the onerous group of
underlying insurance contracts that the entity expects to recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

i) Insurance acquisition cash flows
Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the costs of selling, underwriting and starting a group of insurance
contracts (issued or expected to be issued) that are directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts
to which the group belongs.

The Company uses a systematic and rational method to allocate:

a) Insurance acquisition cash flows that are directly attributable to a group of insurance contracts:
(i) to that group; and
(ii) to groups that include insurance contracts that are expected to arise from the renewals of the insurance
contracts in that group.
b) Insurance acquisition cash flows directly attributable to a portfolio of insurance contracts that are not directly
attributable to a group of contracts, to groups in the portfolio.

Where insurance acquisition cash flows have been paid or incurred before the related group of insurance
contracts is recognised in the statement of financial position, a separate asset for insurance acquisition cash
flows is recognised for each related group.

The asset for insurance acquisition cash flow is derecognised from the statement of financial position when the
insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the initial measurement of the related group of insurance
contracts.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises amounts of insurance acquisition cash flows allocated
to groups of insurance contracts not yet recognised, to reflect changes in assumptions related to the method of
allocation used.

After any re-allocation, the Company assesses the recoverability of the asset for insurance acquisition cash
flows, if facts and circumstances indicate the asset may be impaired. When assessing the recoverability, the
Company applies:

e Animpairment test at the level of an existing or future group of insurance contracts; and
e An additional impairment test specifically covering the insurance acquisition cash flows allocated to
expected future contract renewals.
If an impairment loss is recognised, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted and an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Company recognises in profit or loss a reversal of some or all of an impairment loss previously recognised
and increases the carrying amount of the asset, to the extent that the impairment conditions no longer exist or
have improved.

J)  Insurance contracts - modification and derecognition
The Company derecognises insurance contracts when:

» The rights and obligations relating to the contract are extinguished (i.e., discharged, cancelled or expired) Or

« The contract is modified such that the modification results in a change in the measurement model or the
applicable standard for measuring a component of the contract, substantially changes the contract boundary,
or requires the modified contract to be included in a different group. In such cases, the Company derecognises
the initial contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract. When a modification is not
treated as a derecognition, the Company recognises amounts paid or received for the modification with the
contract as an adjustment to the relevant liability for remaining coverage.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

k) Presentation

The Company has presented separately, in the statement of financial position, the carrying amount of portfolios of
insurance contracts issued that are assets, portfolios of insurance contracts issued that are liabilities, portfolios of
reinsurance contracts held that are assets and portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities.

Any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows recognised before the corresponding insurance contracts are included
in the carrying amount of the related groups of insurance contracts are allocated to the carrying amount of the
portfolios of insurance contracts that they relate to.

The Company disaggregates the total amount recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income into an insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance service expense, and insurance
finance income or expenses.

The Company does not disaggregate the change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk between a financial and non-
financial portion and includes the entire change as part of the insurance service result.

The Company separately presents income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held from the expenses or income
from insurance contracts issued.

1) Insurance revenue

The insurance revenue for the period is the amount of expected premium receipts (excluding any investment
component) allocated to the period. The Company allocates the expected premium receipts to each period of
insurance contract services on the basis of the passage of time. But if the expected pattern of release of risk during
the coverage period differs significantly from the passage of time, then the allocation is made on the basis of the
expected timing of incurred insurance service expenses.

The Company changes the basis of allocation between the two methods above as necessary, if facts and circumstances
change. The change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. For the periods presented,
all revenue has been recognised on the basis of the passage of time.

m) Loss components

The Company assumes that no contracts are onerous at initial recognition unless facts and circumstances indicate
otherwise. Where this is not the case, and if at any time during the coverage period, the facts and circumstances
indicate that a group of insurance contracts is onerous, the Company establishes a loss component as the excess of
the fulfilment cash flows that relate to the remaining coverage of the group over the carrying amount of the liability
for remaining coverage of the group. Accordingly, by the end of the coverage period of the group of contracts the
loss component will be zero.

n) Loss recovery components

Where the Company recognises a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts, or
when further onerous underlying insurance contracts are added to a group, the Company establishes a loss-recovery
component of the asset for remaining coverage for a group of reinsurance contracts held depicting the expected
recovery of the losses.

A loss-recovery component is subsequently reduced to zero in line with reductions in the onerous group of underlying
insurance contracts in order to reflect that the loss-recovery component shall not exceed the portion of the carrying
amount of the loss component of the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts that the entity expects to
recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

0) Insurance finance income and expense
Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of insurance
contracts arising from:
o The effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and
e The effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

The Standard allows for Companies to disaggregate insurance finance income or expenses on insurance
contracts issued between profit or loss and OCI. The impact of changes in market interest rates on the value
of the insurance assets and liabilities are reflected in OCI in order to minimise accounting mismatches between
the accounting for financial assets and insurance assets and liabilities. The Company does not disaggregate
finance income and expenses because the related financial assets are managed on amortized cost.

p)  Net income or expense from reinsurance contracts held
The Company presents separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the amounts expected to be recovered from reinsurers, and an allocation of the reinsurance premiums
paid. The Company treats reinsurance cash flows that are contingent on claims on the underlying contracts as
part of the claims that are expected to be reimbursed under the reinsurance contract held and excludes
investment components and commissions from an allocation of reinsurance premiums presented on the face
of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Transition

On the date of initial application, 01 January 2023, IFRS 17 should be applied retrospectively. Where the full
retrospective approach is impracticable, IFRS 17 allows for alternative transition methods.

The Company has determined that reasonable and supportable information is available for all contracts in
force at the transition date. In addition, as the contracts are eligible for the PAA, the Company has concluded
that only current and prospective information was required to reflect circumstances at the transition date,
which made the full retrospective application practicable and, hence, the only available option for insurance
contracts issued by the Company.

q) Property and equipment
Items of property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Depreciation is charged on a reducing balance method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following rates:

puters

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and
are included in the profit and loss account

r) Intangible assets
The company’s intangible assets are made of Establishment & Development costs and computer software.

The establishment and development costs were initially recognized at cost are amortized over 5 years.

Computer software is recognized at cost less amortization and impairment charges. Computer software packages
acquired are initially recognized at fair value. Cost associated with maintaining computer software programs are
recognized as an expense when incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing
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of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Company are recognized as intangible assets when
the following criteria are met:

s it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

e management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

s there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

e it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

e adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
software product are available; and

e The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

The Company’s intangibles assets are made of software licenses and are amortised on reducing balance method
at the rate of 50% per annum.

Gains and losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.

5) Employee benefits
Defined contribution scheme

The company and all its employees contribute to the national Social Security Fund, which is a defined
contribution scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed, without
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognized as an expense if the company has
made an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number
of acceptances can be estimated reliably.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided.

t) Identification and measurement of impairment of financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated,
and an impairment loss recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

The particular impairment policies for each category of financial asset are described below:
Held-to-maturity.

The recoverable amount of held-to-maturity financial assets carried at amortized cost is calculated as the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

An impairment loss for these assets can be reversed if the subsequent increase in the recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized.

30



RADIANT INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are shown at the gross amount adjusted for any provision for impairment losses.

A provision for loan impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of the loan. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount.

In addition, a portfolio impairment provision is made to cover losses that have been incurred but not reported at
the reporting date. The Company sets the portfolio impairment with reference to past experience taking into
account the effect of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historic loss is based and to
remove the effect of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. These factors include, but are
not limited to, the economic environment, the shape of the portfolio with reference to a range of indicators and
management actions taken to proactively manage the portfolio.

When a loan is deemed uncollectable, it is written off against the related provision for impairment. Subsequent
recoveries are credited to the other income in the statement of comprehensive income.

Available-for-sale

When a decline in the fair value for available-for-sale financial assets has been recognized directly in equity and
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognized directly in
equity is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income even though the asset has not been derecognized,
The amount of cumulative loss that is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income is the difference
between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. If the fair value of the financial asset increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income, the impairment loss shall be reversed with the amount of reversal being
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment for non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset
or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable
asset Company that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and Companies.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating
units reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (Company of units) on a pro rata basis,

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

u) Taxation

Tax on the operating results for the year comprises current tax expense Current tax is provided on the results in
the year as shown in the financial statements adjusted in accordance with tax legislation. Deferred tax is provided
using the statement of financial position liability method on all temporary differences between the carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset Current tax liabilities and assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities,
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simultaneously.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences carried forward of unused tax credits
to the extent that it is probable that future profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and the unused tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rate currently enacted.

The company is entitled to deferred tax assets as there are no changes made in ownership of the share capital and
the voting rights of a company above 25% during the year as per article 29 of Law N° 16/2005 OF 18/08/2005 2005
on direct taxes on income.

“If the determination of business profit results in a loss in a tax period, the loss may be deducted from the business
profit in the next five (5) tax periods, earlier losses being deducted before later losses.

During a tax period, foreign sourced losses can neither reduce domestic sourced business profits nor can they
reduce future domestic sourced business profits.

If during a tax period, the direct and indirect ownership of the share capital or the voting rights of a company,
which shares are not traded on a recognized stock exchange changes more than twenty-five per cent (25%) by
value or by number, paragraph one of this Article ceases to apply to losses incurred by that company in the tax
period and previous tax periods.”

v) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and bank
balances, deposits held at call or for a term with the banks.

w)  Dividends -
Dividends declared after the reporting period but before the financial statements are authorized for issue, are not
recognized as a liability at the end of the reporting period because no obligation exists at that time.

X) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

y)  Share capital
Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 'share capital' in equity. Any amounts received over
and above the par value of the shares issued are classified as 'share premium' in equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.
z)  Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when;

e the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

e it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be require to settle the
obligation; and

e areliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required settling a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party,
the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses,
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If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and
measured as a provision.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity has a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring, identifying at least: the business or part of a business concerned;

e the principal locations affected;

e thelocation, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for terminating
their services;

e the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
When the plan will be implemented; and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry
out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main features to those affected
by it.

aa) Currency and translation of foreign currencies

(i)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency’). The financial statements are
presented in Rwanda Francs which is the Company’s functional currency.

bb) Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstance.

(a) Onerous Groups

An insurance contract is onerous at the date of initial recognition if the fulfilment cash flows allocated to the
contract, any previously recognized acquisition cash flows and any cash flows arising from the contract at the
date of initial recognition in total are a net outflow. Management has assessed the onerous portfolios based on
historical profitability.

(b) Liability for remaining coverage

Premium income is recognized on assumption of risks and includes estimates of premiums due but not yet
received less unexpired portion of the coverage period. The liability for remaining coverage is the Company’s
obligation to:
(a) investigate and pay valid claims under existing insurance contracts for insured events that have not
yet occurred (i.e., the obligation that relates to the unexpired portion of the coverage period); and
(b) pay amounts under existing insurance contracts that are not included in (a) and that related to:
(i) insurance contract services not yet provided (i.e., the obligation that relates to future provision
of insurance contract services); or
(i1) any investment component or other amounts that are not related to the provision of insurance
contract services and that have not been transferred to the liability for incurred claims.

Reinsurance assets or liabilities are derecognised when the contractual rights are extinguished or expire or when
the contract is transferred to another party.

For groups of contracts measured under the Premium Allocation Approach, the liability for remaining coverage at any
point in time is calculated as the sum of the liability for the remaining coverage excluding any loss component and
any loss component. Using the premium allocation approach, the Company measures the liability for remaining
coverage as follows:
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a) Oninitial recognition, the carrying amount of the liability is:

1. The premiums, if any, received at initial recognition.

2. Minus any insurance acquisition cash flows at that date, unless the entity chooses to recognise the payments as
an expense.

3. Plus or minus any amount arising from the derecognition at that date of;

» Any asset for insurance acquisition cashflows and

b) At the end of each subsequent reporting period, the carrying amount of the liability is the carrying amount at
the start of the reporting period:

1. plus the premiums received in the period

2. minus insurance acquisition cash flows; unless the entity chooses to recognise the payments as an expense;

3. plus any amounts relating to the amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows recognised as an expense
in the reporting period; unless the entity chooses to recognise insurance acquisition cash flows as an expense;

minus the amount recognised as insurance revenue for insurance contract services coverage provided in that
period.

(c) Risk adjustment

The Company has estimated the risk adjustment using a confidence level (probability of sufficiency)

approach at the 75th percentile. That is, the Company has assessed its indifference to uncertainty for all
portfolios (as an indication of the compensation that it requires for bearing non-financial risk) as being equivalent
to the 75th percentile confidence level less the mean of an estimated probability distribution of the future cash
flows. The Company has estimated the probability distribution of the future cash flows, and the additional
amount above the expected present value of future cash flows required to meet the target percentiles.

(d) Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows

Insurance acquisition expenses are included in the measurement of the insurance liability and amortized over
the coverage period. This is aligned to the current practice and reduces the possibility of onerous contracts.

The Company expenses its insurance acquisition cash flows for its portfolios immediately the expense is
incurred, and an asset is created for the deferred portion. The asset for insurance acquisition cashflow is
derecognised when the contractual rights are extinguished or expire or when the contract is transferred to
another party.

cc) 4. Management of insurance and financial risk

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of risks, including insurance risk, financial risk, liquidity risk,
credit risk, and the effects of changes in debt and equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. The Company's overall risk management programme focuses on the identification and
management of risks and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on its financial performance, by use of
underwriting guidelines and capacity limits, reinsurance planning, credit policy governing the acceptance of
clients, and defined criteria for the approval of intermediaries and reinsurers. Investment policies are in place
which help manage liquidity and seek to maximise return within an acceptable level of interest rate risk. This
section summarises the way the Company manages key risks:

(@) Insurance risk

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the
amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore
unpredictable.
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For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the
principal risk that the Company faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments
exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity of claims
and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount of claims
and benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using statistical techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability about
the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across the board
by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Company has developed its insurance underwriting strategy to diversify
the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of
risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome. Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk
diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, geographical location and type of industry covered.

Sensitivity analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with all other assumptions
held constant, showing the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit before tax and equity, The correlation of
assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact
due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had to be changed on an individual basis,

The Company purchases reinsurance as part of its risk mitigation program. Reinsurance held is placed on either a
proportional basis, non-proportional basis or/and facultative basis. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are
estimated in a manner consistent with the underlying insurance contract liabilities and in accordance with the
reinsurance contracts.

Although the Company has reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to its policyholders
and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to reinsurance held, to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet
its obligations. The Company’s placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single
reinsurer nor are the operations of the Company substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract.
There is no single counterparty exposure that exceeds 5% of total reinsurance assets at the reporting date.

The following tables show the concentration of net insurance contract liabilities by type of contract:

Frw' 000 2024 2023

Portfolio Insurance Reinsurir::ls Net Insurance Remsurir;z Net
Motor 7,940,458 1,102,362 6,838,097 6,459,123 1,260,282 5,198,841
Medical 1,175,897 0 1,175,897 765,133 3,646 761,488
Property 1,517,296 1,161,647 355,648 122,740 68,663 54,077
Transport 574 179 395 5,209 257 4,952
Guarantee 256,318 20,804 235,514 233,420 27,606 205,814
Crop 518 95 423 6,932 5,139 1,792
Engineering 344,486 214,693 129,793 532,425 405,659 126,766
Liability 235,481 145,726 89,755 173,009 34,854 138,155
Accident 37,625 308 37,317 56,732 1,325 55,407
Total 11,508,652 2,645,814 8,862,838 8,354,723 1,807,432 6,547,292
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RADIANT INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with insurance
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. In respect of catastrophic events, there is
also a liquidity risk associated with the timing differences between gross cash outflows and expected reinsurance
recoveries.

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Company’s exposure to liquidity.

« The Company’s liquidity risk policy sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes liquidity risk
for the Company. Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the
Company’s risk committee. The policy is regularly reviewed for pertinence and for changes in the risk
environment.

e The Company maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can be easily liquidated in the
event of an unforeseeable interruption of cash flow. The Company also has committed lines of credit that it
can access to meet liquidity needs.

Maturity profiles

The following table summarises the maturity profile of portfolios of insurance contracts issued that are liabilities
and portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities of the Company based on the estimates of the present
value of the future cash flows expected to be paid out in the periods presented.

Maturity profile

Frw' 000 ’

Portfolio Upto 1 year ' 1-2 years 3-4 years lasiz 5 years |

Accident | 87,830 21,465 -1 - | - | 109,295

Crop 4 z i il : £

Engineering | 520,174 | 332,189 6,299 || 255,224 1,113,886

Guarantee 755,013 | 147,047 8,419 4 - 910,479

Liability : 365,726 106,004 - - - | 471,730

Medical ’ 2,771,405 1,223,883 - | - | - | 3,995,288

Motor j 12,463,607 708,795 - | - | -« 13,172,402

Property | 1,317,140 822,686 - | - | - 2,139,826

Transport 346,658 14,164 | ’ - 360,822
18,627,553 | 3,376,234 255,224 22,273,729

Maturity profile

Frw' 000 | . 2023 2

Portfolio ' Upto 1 year ' 2-3 years | | >5years |

Accident 25,950 | 118,036 - - - 143,986
Crop _ - 3,846 - . . 3,846 |
Engineering . 148,537 | 781,708 _ 72,349 - . 1,002,594 |
Guarantee j 514,079 463,504 | 24,392 %) > 1,001,976 |
Liability L 136,372 285,493 - - - 421,865
Medical 2,389,375 1,383,467 : - . 3,772,842
Motor 6,971,116 | 2,636,538 - - . 9,607,655
Property 286,152 | 1,416,816 - - - 1,702,968
Transport 230,414 71,539 - - - 301,953

10,701,997 7,160,947 | | 17,959,686
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued

URR FY 2074

Earning Profile

Frw '000 | Upto 1 year ' 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years | > 5 years
Accident 58,079 : - - - 58079 |
Crop | = gl = 5 i = '
Engineering 497,390 92,932 57,754 | 57,912 | 23,418 729,405
' Guarantee 391,376 3,986 13 - - | 395,375
Liability | 206,814 - . - | - 206,814
Medical | 1,267,211 23 23 | 24 8 1,267,290
Motor _ 3,555,107 - | &) - - 3,555,107
Property | 1,079,663 | 4 - | - 1,079,663
Transport 48,602 % s 5 2 48,602

7,104,243 | 23,426 | 7,340,335

Earning Profile
Frw '000 Upto 1 year | 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years > 5 years | Total

Accident | 72,372 | 5 | Al = S 72,372
Crop 1,492 =1 all 5 il 1,492
Engineering . 560,169 28,910 5,804 | - 594,883
Guarantee . 417,888 9,573 80 13 | 5 427,554
Liability | 179,342 | 2,088 4 | - = 181,430 |
Medical . 1,218,055 269 23 | 23 | 31 1,218,401 |
Motor 3,198,777 346 = =i -] 3,199,123 |
Property 892,587 370 d - -1 892957 |
Transport 61,500 a 2 = = 61.500 |

6,602,181 | 31 | 6,649,712

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, insurance contract issued
or reinsurance contract held will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types
of risk: foreign exchange rates (currency risk); market interest rates (interest rate risk); and market prices (price
risk). The Company’s market risk policy sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes market risk
for it. Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the Company’s risk
committee. The policy is reviewed regularly for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment.

Guidelines are set for asset allocation and portfolio limit structure, to ensure that assets back specific
policyholders’ liabilities and that assets are held to deliver income and gains needed to meet the Company’s
contractual requirements.

The nature of the Company’s exposure to market risks and its objectives, policies and processes used to manage
and measure the risks have not changed from the previous period.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument or insurance contract
or reinsurance contract will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
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Fixed interest rate financial instruments expose the Company to fair value interest rate risk. Variable interest rate
financial instruments expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. The Company's fixed interest rate
financial instruments are government securities, deposits with financial institutions and borrowings.

The Company has no significant concentration of interest rate risk.
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its debt instruments held and in respect of liabilities or assets
for incurred claims where cash flows are not expected to be settled within a year from when claims are incurred.

In respect of insurance or reinsurance contract assets or liabilities for remaining coverage to which the PAA is
applied:

If at initial recognition, an entity expects that the time between providing each part of the services and the related
premium due date is no more than a year apart, then the time value of money is not required to be taken into
account.

Or

If this is not the case, then the liability or asset is calculated using a discount rate determined at initial recognition
and, as such, the balance is not sensitive to movements in interest rates.

In respect of insurance or reinsurance contract assets or liabilities for incurred claims to which the PAA is applied:
If cash flows are expected to be paid or received in one year or less from the date the claims are incurred, then
the time value of money is not required to be taken into account.

Or

If this is not the case, then the liability or asset would be adjusted using a discount rate updated at each reporting
period, therefore, resulting in the balance being sensitive to interest rate movements.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments or insurance contract assets
and/or liabilities will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate or
foreign exchange rate risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial
instrument or contract, or by factors affecting all similar contracts or financial instruments traded in the market.

The Company’s price risk exposure relates to financial assets and financial liabilities whose values will fluctuate
as a result of changes in market prices. The Company does not issue any participating contracts. Therefore, there
are no insurance or reinsurance contracts which are exposed to price risk.

The Company’s price risk policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring objectives and
constraints on investments, diversification plans, limits on individual and total equity instruments.
The Company has no significant concentration of price risk.

Operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls
fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications or can lead
to financial loss. The Company cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but by initiating a rigorous control
framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Company is able to manage the risks. Controls
include effective segregation of duties, access controls, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff
education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit. Business risks such as changes in
environment, technology and the industry are monitored through the Company’s strategic planning and budgeting
process.
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Capital Management

The Company has established the following capital management objectives, policies and approach to managing
the risks that affect its capital position:

e To maintain the required level of stability of the Company thereby providing a degree of security to
policyholders

 To allocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that returns on capital
employed meet the requirements of its capital providers and shareholders.

e To retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity and access to a range of capital markets

= To align the profile of assets and liabilities, taking account of risks inherent in the business

e To maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the requirements of the
policyholders, regulators and stakeholders.

e To maintain strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business objectives and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Company is also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which it operates. Such
regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive provisions
(e.g., capital adequacy) to minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the insurance companies to
meet unforeseeable liabilities as they arise. The Company has met all of these requirements throughout the
financial year. The Company seeks to optimise the structure and sources of capital to ensure that it consistently
maximises returns to the shareholders.

The Company’s approach to managing capital involves managing assets, liabilities and risks in a coordinated way,
assessing shortfalls between reported and required capital levels on a regular basis and taking appropriate actions
to influence the capital position of the Company in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk
characteristics. An important aspect of the Company’s overall capital management process is the setting of target
risk adjusted rates of return, which are aligned to performance objectives and ensure that the Company is focused
on the creation of value for shareholders. The primary source of capital used by the Company is total equity. The
Company also uses, where it is efficient to do so, sources of capital such as reinsurance, in addition to more
traditional sources of funding.

The capital requirements are routinely forecast on a periodic basis and assessed against both the forecast available
capital and the expected internal rate of return, including risk and sensitivity analyses. The process is ultimately
subject to approval by the Board.

2024 2023

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

(i)  Admitted Assets 27,804,950 21,196,059
(i) Less Admitted Liabilities 22,899,972 18,252,722
Solvency Margin 4,904,977 2,943,337
Required solvency margin 3,065,506 2,442,034
Surplus/ (Deficiency) 1,839,471 501,303
Solvency Coverage Ratio 160.01% 120.53%
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2. Insurance revenue

Accident
Crop
Engineering
Guarantee
Liability
Medical
Motor
Property
Transport

3. Insurance service expenses

Actual claims and expenses over the period

Expected release of incurred claims over the period
Expected release of risk adjustment for incurred claims
Newly Incurred Claims over the period

Increase in incurred claims liability for past periods
Release of deferred acquisition cost

Increase in losses on onerous contracts

YE 2024 YE 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
23,587 170,029
1,492 16,917
79,364 837,650
42,658 1,008,619
46,346 458,235
3,946,400 3,877,511
12,816,418 8,550,234
1,953,120 1,614,753
373,720 284,392
21,583,105 16,818,341
YE 2024 YE 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
14,449,764 13,443,055
(5,702,883) (4,107,795)
(364,972) (345,749)
7,315,469 5,708,620
1,253,541 587,696
1,711,313 1,252,295
(10,337) (379,873)
18,651,895 16,158,250
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The insurance service expenses for the current year has been classified per portfolio as follows:

31 December 2024

Accident | Crop Engineering | Guarantee | Liability | Medical Motor Property Transport | Totals

Actual claims and
expenses over the i
period 67,218 - 516,587 345,010 | 265,740 | 2,900,972 9,312,353 992,118 48,821 | 14,449,764
Expected release of
incurred claims over ]
the period (40,739) | (5,797) (282,350) | (219,832) | (109,892) (746,517) | (4,186,667) (107,788) (3,302) | (5,702,883)
Expected reiease of
risk adjustment for .
incurred claims (2,694) (417) (14,581) (16,672) (6,680) (57,424) (258,373) (7,931) (200) (364,972)
Newly Incurred Claims 2
over the period 15,865 - 190,290 49,502 | 1€0,207 | 1,175,896 5,589,778 133,931 - 7,315,469
Increase in incurred
claims liability for
past periods . 4,322 (639) (125,112) 193,631 4,915 (3,834) (167,858) | 1,349,631 (1,515) 1,253,541
Release of deferred
acquisition cost 12,332 656 120,814 115,062 43,052 273,947 856,241 261,177 28,031 1,711,313
Increase in losses on
onerous contracts - | (1,072) - (2,266) - (6,999) - - - (10,337)

56,305 | (7,268) 405,648 | 464,436 | 358,342 | 3,535,981 | 11,145,479 | 2,621,139 71,835 | 18,651,895
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31 December 2023

Accident

Crop

Engineering

Guarantee

Liability

Medical

Motor

Property

Transport

Totals

Actual claims m:.u
expenses over the
period :

74,901

25,165

738,312

319,077

171,225

3,448,387

7,879,562

724,454

61,973

13,443,055

Expected release
of incurred claims
over the period

(48,145)

(27,114)

(42,595)

(108,641)

(49,153)

(777,815)

(2,969,070)

(78,566)

(6,697)

(4,107,795)

Expected release

for incurred
claims

of risk adjustment

(4,028)

(2,236)

(3,940)

(8,935)

(4,176)

(63,699)

(251,692)

(6,493)

(549)

(345,749)

Newly Incurred
Claims over the
eriod

20,411

3,259

306,497

15,420

84,561

765,054

4,404,004

106,092

3,322

5,708,620

Increase in
incurred claims
liability for past
periods |

17,370

64

126,498

207,720

54,942

(6,008)

182,112

3,333

1,664

587,696

Release of
deferred
acquisition cost

15,575

2,330

43,734

78,572

29,315

309,862

638,270

112,029

22,609

1,252,295

Increase in losses
on onerous
contracts

1,030

(2,468)

(286,626)

(91,809)

(379,873)

76,084

2,498

1,168,506

500,745

286,714

3,389,156

9,791,376

860,849

82,321

16,158,250
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4. Allocation of reinsurance premiums

Allocation of reinsurance premiums

5. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims

Actual claims recoveries

Expected release of incurred claims over the period
Expected release of risk adjustment for incurred claims
New Incurred Claims over the period

Increase in PV and RA of incurred claims liability
Release of deferred acquisition cost

Increase in losses on onerous contracts

6. Investment income

Investment income

7. Other Expenses

Accident
Engineering
Guarantee
Liability
Medical
Motor
Property
Transport

8. Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances

Cash in hand
Transfers

Interest on deposits

2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
2,857,555 2,630,839
2,857,555 2,630,839
2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
1,832,323 1,017,829
(1,149,418) (1,193,464)
(69,932) (101,292)
1,100,444 945,294
803,972 82,480
335,381 488,345
(1,373) (34,547)
2,851,397 1,204,645
2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
2,669,841 1,627,054
2,669,841 1,627,054
2024 2024
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
12,304 .
94,562
63,155
48,827
531,018
1,704,645
181,609
8,937
2,645,058 .
2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
4,064,929 1,275,903
1,980 3,229
68,378 326,353
177,272 72,493
4,312,560 1,677,979
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9. Investments in term deposits

2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
Held to maturity:
Bank term deposits 450,000 450,000
With below movement in during the year:
AS at | January 450,000 500,000
Investments made in the year 450,000 300,000
Repayments received in the year (450,000) (350,000)
Balance as at 31 December 450,000 450,000
Comprising:
Current portion 450,000 450,000
Noncurrent portion - -
450,000 450,000
10.Investments in treasury bonds
2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
Held to maturity:
Fixed rate treasury bonds 1,868,000
With below movement in during the year:
AS at 1 January 1,868,000 2,768,000
Investments made in the year 2,277,000 5
Repayments received in the year (500,000) (900,000)
Balance as at 31 December 3,645,000 1,868,000
Comprising:
Current portion . -
Noncurrent portion 3,645,000 1,868,000
3,645,000 1,868,000
11. Investment in unquoted securities
2024 2023
Investment in unquoted securities Frw' 000 Frw' 000
Investee
Regional Potatoes Trading - Shareholding 14.53% 60,000 60,000
Radiant Yacu - Shareholding 50.00% 500,000 500,000
Cyato Tea Plantation and Factory 1,665,000 1,360,000
Bank of Africa 1,202,400 3
Balance as at 31 December 3,427,400 1,920,000
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12.Re- insurance contract receivables

GLOBUS RE
ZEP RE
AFRICA RE
CICA RE
SCG RE

NCA RE

GIC

KENYA RE
SCR
CONTINENTAL RE
TAN RE
GHANA RE
CLAPTON RE
WAICA RE

13.Receivables arising out of co- insurance arrangements

Prime
Mayfair
Britam

Mua

Old Mutual
BK Insurance

14. Reinsurance share in insurance contracts liabilities

Reinsurance share in insurance contracts liabilities

15. Other receivables

Other receivables

Deposits and guarantees

Rentals receivable

VAT receivable

Prepayments

Dues from independent branches
Miscellaneous debtors

2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
1,364,809 707,837
75,125 74,648
247,423 442,324
297,558 211,785
127,959 37,714
249,668 132,031
176,704 72,794
336,077 127,200
79,416 75,883
395,856 188,905
243,101 72,716
316,143 110,082
269,318 138,958
93,774 ”
4,272,931 2,392,877
20,022 45,593
15,816 4,206
20,022 4,206
15,816 4,206
15,816 4,206
15,816 16,364
103,309 78,780
1,407,773 1,874,350
1,407,773 1,874,350
54,415 72,965
29,060 23,094
170,070 20,032
52,202 34,274
482 5,997
456,851 694,965
763,080 851,327
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16. Inventories

Inventories - 32,062 34,381
32,062 34,381
17. Taxation
(a) Statement of financial position
Statement of financial position
As at 01 January (236,543) (152,513)
Current year charge 788,827 275,043
Tax paid (261,727) (359,073)
Tax (receivable)/ payable 290,557 (236,543)
(b) Statement of profit or loss
Statement of profit or loss
Corporate tax charge for the year (788,827) (275,043)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) for the year 46,455 113,241
(742,372) (161,802)
(c) Reconciliation of tax charge for the year to the tax based on accounting profit
Profit/(Loss) before tax (2023:29.4%) 2,450,377 538,510
Tax at applicable rate of 28%(2023:29.4%) 686,106 158,322
Effects of net tax adjustments 56,266 3,480
742,372 161,802
(d)Deferred tax liability
As at 01 January 16,866 130,107
Deferred tax (credit)/charge (46,455) (113,241)
As at 31 December (29,589) 16,866
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18. Investment property

Investment property

As at 31 December 2024: Land Buildings Total
Cost: Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000
As at 1 January 2024 2,996,223 12,164,437 15,160,660
Additions during the year 1,556,214 1,556,214
Disposal during the year (2,000,000) (2,000,000)
As at 31 December 2024: 2,996,223 11,720,651 14,716,874
Depreciation:

As at 1 January 2024 - 177,475 177,475
Charge for the year - 21,260 21,260
As at 31 December 2024: - 198,735 198,735
Net book value 2,996,223 11,521,916 14,518,139
As at 31 December 2023: Land Buildings Total
Cost: Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000
As at 1 January 2023 2,996,223 9,801,568 12,797,791
Additions during the year - 2,362,869 2,362,869
As at 31 December 2023: 2,996,223 12,164,437 15,160,660
Depreciation:

As at 1 January 2023 156,215 156,215
Charge for the year . 21,260 21,260
As at 31 December 2023 - 177,475 177,475
Net book value 2,996,223 11,986,962 14,983,185
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19.Property and equipment

As at 31 December 2024: Office furniture Office equipment Motor vehicle IT equipment Total
Cost: Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw’ 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000
As at 1 January 2024 228,426 56,144 504,391 418,274 1,207,235
Additions 711,873 1,174,830 27,329 1,914,032
As at 31 December 2024: 940,299 1,230,974 504,391 445,603 3,121,267
Depreciation:

As at 1 January 2024 198,617 43,898 432,973 368,996 1,049,484
Charge for the year 185,820 44,644 17,855 38,303 286,622
As at 31 December 2024 384,437 93,542 450,828 407,299 1,336,106
Net ._uoox value 555,862 1,137,432 53,563 38,304 1,785,161
As at 31 December 2023: Office furniture Office equipment Motor vehicle IT equipment Total
Cost: Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000
As at 1 January 2023 226,485 56,144 504,391 362,761 1,149,781
Additions . 1,941 - ) - 55,513 57,454
As at 31 December 2023: 228,426 56,144 504,391 418,274 1,207,235
Depreciation:

As at 1 January 2023 188,681 46,483 409,167 319,718 964,049
Charge for the year 9,936 2,415 23,806 49,278 85,435
As at 31 December 2023 198,617 48,898 432,973 368,996 1,049,484
Net book value 29,809 7,246 71,418 49,278 157,751
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20. Intangible assets

As at 31 December 2024:

Establishment &

Development Computer software  Software in progress Total
costs
Cost: Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000
As at 1 January 2024 163,859 273,182 108,708 545,749
Additions during the year 33,898 33,898
Transfer . &
As at 31 December 2024; 197,757 273,182 108,708 579,647
Depreciation:
As at 1 January 2024 117,948 93,002 . 210,950
Charge for the year 18,018 7,981 25,999
As at 31 December 2023 135,966 100,983 - 236,949
Net book value 61,791 172,199 108,708 342,698
As at 31 December 2023:
Establishment &
Development Computer software  Software in progress Total
costs
Cost: Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000
As at 1 January 2023 163,859 91,780 290,110 545,749
Transfer - 181,402 181,402 -
As at 31 December 2023: 163,859 273,182 108,708 545,749
Depreciation:
As at 1 January 2023 99,284 86,545 185,829
Charge for the year 18,664 6,457 25,121
As at 31 December 2023 117,948 93,002 - 210,950
Net book value 45,911 180,180 108,708 334,799
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21. Insurance contracts liabilities

2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
IBNR + OCR 11,309,057 8,525,130
Effect of Discounting (870,371) (738,809)
Risk Adjustment 1,069,965 568,401
Liability for Incurred Claims 11,508,652 8,354,723
Unearned Premium Reserve 7,340,335 6,649,712
Deferred Acquisition Cost (653,394) (657,705)
Loss Component 58,008 68,345
Premium Debtors (1,194,315) (899,549)
Liability for Remaining Coverage 5,550,634 5,160,801
17,059,286 13,515,525
22. Re- insurance contract liabilities
2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000
GLOBUS RE 374,055 217,040
ZEP RE 4,980 2,494
AFRICA RE 61,845 127,491
CICA RE 67,472 87,134
SCG RE 70,544 50,920
NCA RE 78,096 67,881
GIC RE 53,275 58,898
KENYA RE 104,115 106,108
SCR RE 3,204 17,059
CONTINENTAL RE 109,763 97,958
TAN RE 62,657 53,417
GHANA RE 111,000 99,028
CLAPTON RE 71,261 105,901
WAICA RE 63,950 -
1,236,217 1,091,330
23. Payables arising out of co - insurance arrangements.

2024 2023
Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Sonarwa Gl 11,067

SANLAM 19,800

MUA 2,500

MAYFAIR 19,410
BRITAM 11,067 -
Prime : 33,274
63,845 33,274
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24, Other payables

Pay as you earn (PAYE)
Withholding taxes

RSSB - Pensions & Maternity leave
VAT payable

Special Guarantee Fund (SGF)
Guarantee deposits
Miscellaneous creditors

25.Cash flows generated from/ (used in) from operations

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization

Interest on Reinsurers' deposits

Interest on lease liability

Change in working capital:

Inventories

Other receivables

Opening Balance adjustments

Reinsurance share in insurance contracts liabilities

Receivables arising out from re- insurance - arrangement

Receivables arising out of co- insurance arrangement
Insurance contracts liabilities

Payable arising out of reinsurance arrangement
Payables arising out of co- insurance arrangements
Other payables

Operating activities
Cash flows generated from/(used in) from operations

Note

2024 2023

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

69,171 65,817

20,135 26,889

21,042 19,769

179,282 93,874

96,850 81,934

1,564,625 1,349,855

593,034 606,036

2,544,140 2,244,174

2024 2023

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

3,174,270 538,510

333,880 348,886

(499,457) (322,441)

25 : 21,072
3,008,693 586,027

16 2,320 (5,835)
15 (406,795) 619,582
: 422,010

14 466,576 112,552
12 (1,880,054) 91,921
13 (24,529) 215,021
21 3,543,760 2,696,947
22 144,887 (533,120)
23 30,571 (146,832)
24 299,966 (450,838)
26 5,185,395 3,607,435
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26.Capital commitments

There were no capital commitments (2023: Nil) towards acquisition and/or construction of capital expenditure
items. No advances were paid on capital commitments (2023: Nil) during the year.

27.Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realization of assets
and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of
business.

28. Events after the reporting period

On the 28th of March 2025, the Directors reviewed the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 and determined that the Company has sufficient retained profits available for distribution to
its Shareholders.

The directors recommended a distribution of dividends in the amount of three billion and five hundred million
Rwandan francs (3,500,000,000 Frw). This distribution is subjected to the approval of the regulator.
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